
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

Richmond Division 
 
GEORGE HENGLE, et al.,        

    
  Plaintiffs,          

    
 v.         Civil Action No. 3:19-cv-00250-REP 
          
SCOTT ASNER, et al.,          
    
   Defendants. 
  

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS 
SCOTT ASNER AND JOSHUA LANDY’S RENEWED MOTION TO DISMISS 

 
Plaintiffs George Hengle, et al., by Counsel, hereby file this opposition to Defendants, 

Scott Asner and Joshua Landy’s Renewed Motion to Dismiss. (ECF 59.) For the reasons that 

follow, the Court should deny the Motion. 

I. OVERVIEW. 

This case arises from an Internet rent-a-tribe lending operation in which opportunistic 

businesspersons and lawyers seek to advantage themselves by lending money with interest rates 

above state usury limits. To avoid accountability for their illegal conduct, Defendants Asner and 

Landy aligned themselves with an Indian Tribe, the Habematolel Pomo of Upper Lake in an 

attempt to shield the illegal business using the Tribe’s sovereign immunity. In the early years of 

this relationship, companies owned and controlled by Asner and Landy did virtually everything 

regarding the lending business, with the Tribe tangentially involved and paid a sliver of profits. 

When regulators closed in, Asner and Landy sold their companies to the Tribe. Plaintiffs borrowed 

money from this illegal lending enterprise, and press Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt 

Organizations Act (“RICO”), Virginia state usury, and unjust enrichment claims against 

Defendants Asner and Landy.  

Case 3:19-cv-00250-DJN   Document 99   Filed 09/16/19   Page 1 of 31 PageID# 3102



2 
 

Asner and Landy view the 2014 sale of their companies to the Tribe as some sort of 

exonerative event. They believe that they cannot be liable for engaging in the illegal lending 

business before the sale because of the expiration of the statute of limitations, and they cannot be 

liable for the illegal enterprise after the sale because of the sale. Neither of these ploys suffices to 

protect them from Plaintiffs’ claims, as once a member of a RICO conspiracy, absent effective 

withdrawal, always a member of a RICO conspiracy. Nothing in the Amended Complaint or Asner 

and Landy’s Motion to Dismiss suggest they ever withdrew, so they are potentially liable for the 

ongoing conduct of the enterprise. Before and after the 2014 merger. 

Substantively, Plaintiffs have adequately pleaded that Asner and Landy took enough of a 

role in the enterprise to make them liable under RICO. There are allegations of sufficient 

connection to the enterprise, the requisite knowledge and involvement, and causation of Plaintiffs’ 

injuries such that those claims survive Asner and Landy’s Motion. Rule 8 requires only plain 

statements of the claim to give a defendant notice of what he faces, and Plaintiffs provided that. 

Further, Asner and Landy’s arguments that the statute of limitations dooms Plaintiffs’ state-

law claims are erroneous. Virginia permits limitations periods to be tolled under statutory and 

equitable principles, and each option applies here. Here, prior to the sale, Defendants’ roles were 

concealed as part of this dubious effort to evade state usury laws. Moreover, Defendants’ conduct 

caused Plaintiffs to reasonably, and falsely, believe that the claims the pursue here were 

unavailable because Tribal law governed their lending relationships with Defendants. Applying 

those principles here permits Plaintiffs’ claims to proceed. 

In sum, Asner and Landy provide no reasoned ground by which the Court should dismiss 

claims against them. The Court should therefore deny their Motion. 
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II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND. 

Payday lenders target consumers who need funds before their next paycheck, advancing 

those consumers cash in exchange for a larger payment to be extracted from the consumer’s 

paycheck when it arrives. (ECF 54 ¶ 29.) Lenders are aware the consumers typically renew the 

loans when they are unable to pay them off with the first paycheck, creating a cycle of renewed, 

mounting, and profitable debt. (Id.) Approximately 15 years ago, lenders made these loans through 

national banks, which helped them skirt state usury laws. (Id. ¶¶ 32–33.) When federal regulators 

cracked-down by targeting the banks, several payday lenders associated with Indian Tribes and 

resurrected the practice as the rent-a-tribe model. (Id. ¶¶ 34–35.) The idea, pioneering lawyers 

explained, was that with this Tribal model “under federal Indian law the tribal lender could make 

these loans, and they could sell the loans to a non-tribal entity, and the loans could be collected 

upon at the contract rate, and the loans would not be subject to state regulation.” (Id. ¶ 35.) 

Consistent with this model, Defendant Golden Valley was established in 2012. (Id. ¶ 55.) 

Golden Valley marketed its short-term loans of “up to $1,000,” touting its ability to approve 

borrowers “in seconds.” (Id. ¶ 56.) Golden Valley further stated that it was wholly owned by the 

Habematolel Pomo of Upper Lakeman, California, and operated from the Tribe’s reservation. (Id. 

¶ 57.) Around the same time, the Tribal Defendants established Silver Cloud, lending through an 

Internet site in June 2013. (Id. ¶ 59.) Silver Cloud publicized loans in amounts similar to Golden 

Valley’s, and likewise stated it was wholly owned and operated by the Tribe and conducting 

business from the Tribe’s reservation. (Id. ¶ 60.) With Silver Cloud operating, the Tribal 

Defendants launched Mountain Summit in August 2012, lending through an Internet site as early 

as January, 2014. (Id. ¶ 61.) Mountain Summit’s website mirrored those of Golden Valley and 
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Silver Cloud in terms of loan offerings and representations of Tribal ownership and operations 

located on the Tribe’s reservation. (Id. ¶ 62.) 

Though all of these businesses claimed to be wholly owned by the Tribe and operating 

from its reservation, those claims were false. Outsiders in Overland Park, Kansas, at companies 

called National Performance Agency, National Processing, and Nagus Enterprises, performed 

nearly all activities on behalf of Golden Valley, Silver Cloud, and Mountain Summit. (Id. ¶ 63, 

67.) Not surprisingly, these outsiders kept most of the profits from the lending enterprise, with 

companies owned and operated by Defendants Asner and Landy, Edison Creek, Nagus Enterprises, 

Cobalt Hills, and National Performance Agency, receiving about $35.8 million from Golden 

Valley and Silver Cloud from August to December 2013. (Id. ¶¶ 71–72.) During that same period, 

the Tribe received about $536,000, a pittance of the amount outsiders got. (Id. ¶ 71.) Asner and 

Landy’s participation in and control of these outsider companies is confirmed by numerous 

documents, including bank and corporate records. (Id. ¶¶ 73–78.) 

As with usurious lending through national banks, regulators soon caught-on to the rent-a-

tribe model. Significant litigation by New York regulators and the CFPB began to chip away at 

the notion that one could use a tribe’s name, hand it a sliver of the profits, and avoid accountability 

for lending money at interest rates that violate state usury statutes. (Id. ¶¶ 79–93.) Such pursuit 

caused individuals like Asner, Landy, and their lawyers to seek ways in which to shield themselves 

from potential liability. (Id. ¶¶ 94–95.) The decision was ultimately to turn National Performance 

Agency, Nagus Enterprises, and their affiliated entities into newly created tribal entities, Clear 

Lake TAC G and Clear Lake TAC S. (Id. ¶ 96.) Those mergers were completed in 2014, with 

National Performance Agency becoming Clear Lake TAC G, and Nagus Enterprises becoming 

Clear Lake TAC S. (Id. ¶ 97.) Hours before, National Performance and Nagus scooped-up multiple 
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companies involved in the lending scheme. (Id. ¶¶ 98–99.) Then, shortly after the mergers, Clear 

Lake TAC G and TAC S dissolved, transferring their assets to ULPS, another new tribal company 

created to facilitate the post-merger scheme. (Id. ¶ 100.) Despite the mergers and dissolutions, little 

has changed in the operation of the lending scheme—outsiders in Kansas still handle virtually all 

aspects of the lending business, thousands of miles from the Tribe’s reservation. (Id. ¶¶ 101–02.) 

And those outsiders have continued the greatly unbalanced sharing of profits that favors them 

greatly over the Tribe. (Id. ¶ 104.) 

Plaintiffs all obtained loans from the illegal lending enterprise, comprised of entities and 

individuals like Asner and Landy, that exceeded the 12% statutory usury limit in Virginia. (Id. ¶¶ 

108–110.) Though they loaned money at an annual interest rate of greater than 300%, with some 

as high as 900%, none of the lenders were licensed for consumer lending in Virginia, so they had 

no lawful basis to exceed the 12% cap. (Id. ¶¶ 109, 112–13.) These loans resulted in Defendants 

obtaining thousands of dollars from Plaintiffs and other Virginia consumers in violation of Virginia 

law. (Id. ¶¶ 116–23.) Such conduct also constitutes violations of RICO for the collection of 

unlawful debt. (Id. ¶¶ 127–30.) RICO holds illegal enterprise participants jointly and severally 

liable for the enterprise’s violations. (Id. ¶ 130.) 

III. LEGAL STANDARDS. 

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), a defendant may move to dismiss a 

complaint for failure to state a claim on which relief may be granted. FED. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6). Such 

a motion “‘tests the sufficiency of a complaint; importantly, it does not resolve contests 

surrounding the facts, the merits of a claim, or the applicability of defenses.’” Hinton, v. Midlothian 

Kroger, No. 3:19-cv-178, 2019 WL 4060339, at *2 (E.D. Va. Aug. 28, 2019). The Court’s 

analysis, which is case-specific and asks the Court to draw upon its judicial experience and 
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common sense, requires that the Court “‘assume all well-pleaded factual allegations to be true and 

determine whether, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, they ‘plausibly give rise to 

an entitlement to relief.’” Id. In conducting that inquiry, the Court accepts Plaintiffs’ factual 

allegations as true and draws all reasonable inferences in Plaintiffs’ favor. Id. 

IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES. 

A. Defendants Have Failed To Show Dismissal Is Appropriate On Limitations Grounds. 

1. Nothing suggests Asner and Landy withdrew from the RICO conspiracy. 

Defendants’ arguments for dismissal depend entirely on the ability to overlook a key aspect 

of the case and how RICO conspiracies work. As the Fourth Circuit has explained, once a person 

becomes a member of a RICO conspiracy, “membership in the conspiracy is presumed to continue 

until he withdraws from the conspiracy by affirmative action.” United States v. Cornell, 780 F.3d 

616, 632 (4th Cir. 2015) (quoting United States v. Bennett, 984 F.2d 597, 609 (4th Cir. 1993)). In 

other words, “a defendant who has joined a conspiracy continues to violate the law ‘through every 

moment of [the conspiracy’s] existence,’ and he becomes responsible for the acts of his co-

conspirators in pursuit of their common plot.” Cornell, 780 F.3d at 631–32. 

For obvious reasons, withdrawal is a significant event that must be shown by more than, 

like Asner and Landy did, merely selling a business that participates in the conspiracy. Rather, as 

this Court has recently recognized, “‘[w]ithdrawal from a conspiracy ‘requires the defendant to 

take affirmative actions inconsistent with the object of the conspiracy and [to] communicate his 

intent to withdraw in a manner likely to reach his accomplices.’” United States v. Hill, No. 3:14-

cr-176-HEH, 2019 WL 4040619, at *12 (E.D. Va. Aug. 27, 2019) (first alteration added). Further, 

to successfully show withdrawal, the defendant must prove that he or she “acted to defeat or 

disavow the purposes of the conspiracy.” Id. Nothing even arguably like this occurred here, and 
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Asner and Landy do not claim as much. So their RICO exposure continued well beyond the 2014 

sale of their businesses, continuing until the time they have proven their successful withdrawal. 

And since Plaintiffs’ allegations control and there is nothing addressing Asner and Landy’s 

withdrawal from the conspiracy, their involvement and potential RICO liability is ongoing. 

All Asner and Landy argue is that they sold companies to the Tribe in 2014, and which 

defeats Plaintiffs’ claims because, Asner and Landy appear to believe, the sale magically ended 

their relationship to or participation in the RICO conspiracy. (See ECF 60 at 6 (“Plaintiffs cannot 

pursue claims based on alleged conduct by Asner and Landy that ended almost five years ago—or 

claims that arose when, according to the documents referenced in Plaintiffs’ own pleadings, Asner 

and Landy had no involvement in the operation of the business.”).) The authorities above confirm 

otherwise, and there is nothing to which Asner and Landy can point in the Amended Complaint 

even suggesting that they have even claimed (let alone proven) their successful withdrawal from 

the enterprise. What is more, Plaintiffs’ well-pleaded allegations allege that the illegal enterprise 

operated in the same manner after the conspiracy as before it, and it is fair to presume that Asner 

and Landy maintained at least some role—even as a shareholder or recipient of money—after the 

mergers. See United States v. George, No. CRIM.A. 90-78-03, 2002 WL 32443032, at *3 (N.D.W. 

Va. Apr. 30, 2002) (finding no error in RICO conviction, noting defendant’s “arrest and 

incarceration did not result in his withdrawal from the conspiracy in question”). Thus, as the 

conspiracy continued beyond the merger without their withdrawal, so continued Asner and 

Landy’s RICO liability. 
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Because Asner and Landy never withdrew from the conspiracy, they are liable for the 

actions of the co-conspirators under § 1962(d) regardless of whether their literal involvement may 

have changed over time.1 

2. Tolling of the limitations periods saves the state law claims. 

Regarding Plaintiffs’ state-law claims, Asner and Landy argue similar points—that the 

mergers occurred before the claims accrued, so Plaintiffs’ claims “expired long before the filing 

of the Amended Complaint.” (ECF 60 at 7.) In Virginia, however, limitations periods can be tolled 

by two routes—the Virginia Code and estoppel principles. Virginia Code Section 8.01-229(D) acts 

to toll the statute of limitations where the defendant “‘by any indirect way or means, obstructed 

the prosecution of [the] suit’ by participating in some fraudulent act ‘which kept the plaintiff in 

ignorance of its rights.’” Newman v. Walker, 618 S.E.2d 336, 338 (Va. 2005). Equitable estoppel 

will also prevent the limitations period from advancing “when ‘the aggrieved party reasonably 

relied on the words and conduct of the person to be estopped in allowing the limitations period to 

expire.’” Snapp v. Lincoln Fin. Sec. Corp., 767 F. App’x 452, 455 (4th Cir. 2019). Asner and 

Landy acknowledge that such principles apply to the claims at issue here, noting that “[c]ivil RICO 

claims accrue when the plaintiff discovered or should have discovered the alleged injury[.]” (ECF 

60 at 7 (emphasis added).) The prevention of that discovery triggers tolling principles. 

                                                
1 Defendants devote significant space and effort to arguing the inaccuracy or inapplicability of 
Plaintiffs’ allegation that in their Amended Complaint “Landy and Asner continue to participate 
in the affairs of the illegal lending enterprise, now as high-paid executives of the Tribal Lending 
Entities, as opposed to owners of the businesses that previously ran the companies.” (See ECF 60 
at 6, 9–14.) Plaintiffs statement was based on their knowledge of restructures completed by lenders 
in this same space, who were represented by Rosette, the same firm that created and facilitated the 
restructure in this case. See Williams v. Big Picture Loans, LLC, No. 3:17-CV-461, 2019 WL 
1983048, at *3 (E.D. Va. May 3, 2019) (detailing structure of tribal lending enterprise post-
merger); Solomon v. Am. Web Loan, 375 F. Supp. 3d 638, 649–50 (E.D. Va. 2019) (same). Based 
on their representations, Plaintiffs withdraw this allegation, without prejudice to reasserting it 
should discovery suggest its truth.  
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Regarding tolling by fraudulent concealment, the Virginia Supreme Court has explained: 

“Mere silence by the person liable is not concealment, but there must be some 
affirmative act or representation designed to prevent, and which does prevent, the 
discovery of the cause of action. Concealment of a cause of action preventing the 
running of limitations must consist of some trick or artifice preventing inquiry, or 
calculated to hinder a discovery of the cause of action by the use of ordinary 
diligence, and mere silence is insufficient. There must be something actually said 
or done which is directly intended to prevent discovery. Mere silence or 
concealment by a debtor may not, without affirmative misrepresentation, toll the 
running of the statute. Where, however, a debtor by actual fraud keeps his creditor 
in ignorance of the cause of action, the statute does not begin to run until the 
creditor had knowledge, or was put upon inquiry with means of knowledge that 
such cause of action had accrued. Fraudulent concealment must consist of 
affirmative acts of misrepresentation, mere silence being insufficient. The fraud 
which will relieve the bar of the statute must be of that character which involves 
moral turpitude, and must have the effect of debarring or deterring the plaintiff from 
his action.” 
 

Newman, 618 S.E.2d at 338–39 (quoting Culpeper Nat’l Bank v. Tidewater Improvement Co., Inc., 

89 S.E. 118, 121 (Va. 1916)) (emphasis added). Here, there is little doubt that all Defendants 

engaged in the type of concealment that tolls the limitations period under Virginia law. They 

created a complex system of laws that they claim not only apply to Plaintiffs’ claims. In doing so, 

Defendants purported to extinguish any rights consumers have under state and federal law in favor 

of non-existent Tribal law to be applied in a non-class arbitration. As the purported arbitration 

agreement Asner and Landy want enforce explains, “[t]he arbitrator shall apply applicable 

substantive tribal law consistent with the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA), and applicable statutes 

of limitation, and shall honor claims of privilege recognized at law.” (ECF 58-1 at 6 ¶ 5 (emphasis 

added).) The only right anyone has to enforce an arbitral award is before the Tribal court, not any 

other court that might otherwise have jurisdiction to enforce one. (Id. at 6 ¶ 6.) Even if a court 

finds that the FAA does not apply to the consumer’s loan transaction, then the agreement to 

arbitrate defaults to Tribal law only. (Id. at 6 ¶ 7.) None of this is genuine nor does it truly 

extinguish consumers’ state and federal rights. 
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 As Plaintiffs have argued in other concurrently filed briefs in this case, this Court, other 

District Courts, and the Second and Fourth Circuits have unanimously held such arbitration 

provisions are unenforceable because they waive consumers’ state and federal rights prospectively. 

The issue here is different, but the unenforceability is a key part of it—all Defendants (and their 

lawyers) crafted this bogus Tribal law and arbitration scheme to dupe consumers into thinking they 

had some rights that they could enforce against the lenders, but none under state or federal law. 

That misrepresentation was untrue, as Tribal law in this context is meaningless for consumers. 

Yet, the arbitration provision and class action waiver is designed to quash consumers’ desires to 

file lawsuits like this one, and was largely successful until the filing of this case. Through the 

arbitration agreements, Defendants falsely represented that only Tribal law—and nothing else—

applied to Plaintiffs’ and Class Members’ claims, which was false because the agreements cannot 

be enforced. So, contrary to the representations in the agreements, state and federal laws, like 

usury, unjust enrichment, and RICO do apply to the loans. But Defendants’ deception prevented 

consumers from attempting to enforce their state and federal rights because they falsely believed 

them to be forfeit. 

 The same result would obtain on an estoppel theory. Snapp, 767 F. App’x at 455. 

Defendants cannot claim the benefit of a statute of limitations that by their conduct was allowed 

to run. Plaintiffs relied on Defendants’ conduct in waiting to file this case when they did, 

reasonably believing that they had no state or federal rights to enforce.  

B. The Loan Agreements Are Unenforceable, Defeating Asner And Landy’s Arguments 
That The Loans Are Somehow Legal. 
 
Asner and Landy argue here that the supposedly enforceable agreements to arbitrate 

extinguish Plaintiffs’ state-law and RICO claims. (ECF 60 at 15.) That of course is an argument 

for another brief, namely Plaintiffs’ concurrently filed Oppositions to the Tribal Officials’ Motion 
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to Dismiss. Suffice it to say, court after court to consider the issue, at the Circuit and District level, 

have refused to enforce these contracts, including their choice of law provisions.  

See Dillon v. BMO Harris Bank, N.A., 856 F.3d 330, 337 (4th Cir. 2017); Hayes v. Delbert 

Servs. Corp., 811 F.3d 666, 676 (4th Cir. 2016); Gingras v. Think Fin., Inc., 922 F.3d 112, 127 

(2d Cir. 2019); MacDonald v. CashCall, Inc., 883 F.3d 220, 232 (3d Cir. 2018); Jackson v. Payday 

Fin., LLC, 764 F.3d 765, 786 (7th Cir. 2014); Gibbs v. Haynes Invs., LLC, 368 F. Supp. 3d 901, 

925 (E.D. Va. 2019); Solomon v. Am. Web Loan, 375 F. Supp. 3d 638, 669 (E.D. Va. 2019); Brice 

v. Plain Green, LLC, 372 F. Supp. 3d 955, 973 (N.D. Cal. 2019); Titus v. ZestFinance, Inc., No. 

18-5373 RJB, 2018 WL 5084844, at *7 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 18, 2018). This Court should refuse to 

break from these well-reasoned decisions to find such an agreement is enforceable. 

C. This Case Lacks No Indispensable Parties. 

Asner and Landy further claim that Plaintiffs claims must be dismissed because Plaintiffs 

did not sue the Tribal Lending Entities. (ECF 60 at 15.) This is so, Asner and Landy improperly 

claim, because “in connection with claims asserted against Asner and Landy, to find Plaintiffs’ 

loans null and void.” (Id.) That of course is not correct, as Plaintiffs have set forth in their 

Opposition to Tribal Officials’ Motion to Dismiss.  

D. Asner And Landy Are Responsible For The Acts Of Entities. 

Asner and Landy claim that corporate-law principles of shareholder insulation from 

corporate responsibilities shield them from liability from Plaintiffs’ claims. (ECF 60 at 16–17.) 

This position is incorrect, as courts have held again and again that RICO reaches individuals, even 

shareholders, who hold interests in entities that participate in a RICO enterprise. 

1. Plaintiffs plead an association-in-fact enterprise under RICO. 
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RICO defines an “enterprise” as “any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or 

other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal 

entity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1691(4) (emphasis added). The Supreme Court’s decision in Boyle v. United 

States, recognized that RICO’s definition of enterprise was “obviously broad” and included an 

“association in fact” enterprise. 556 U.S. 938, 944 (2009). Put differently, an enterprise may be a 

legally recognized entity like a corporation or an “association in fact enterprise,” i.e., “a group of 

persons associated together for a common purpose of engaging in a course of conduct.” United 

States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 583 (1981); Boyle, 556 U.S. at 948 (“[A]n association-in-fact 

enterprise is simply a continuing unit that functions with a common purpose.”). 

In Boyle, the Court noted that “the very concept of an association in fact is expansive” and 

that the terms of RICO are “to be ‘liberally construed to effectuate its remedial purposes.’” Boyle, 

556 U.S. at 944 (quoting Pub.L. 91-452, § 904(a), 84 Stat. 947). To that end, the Supreme Court 

has held that an association-in-fact enterprise merely requires three structural features: (1) a 

purpose, (2) relationships among those associated with the enterprise, and (3) longevity sufficient 

to permit these associates to pursue the enterprise’s purpose. Boyle, 556 U.S. at 946. Each of these 

elements is easily satisfied here. 

First, Plaintiffs plead the purpose of the enterprise. This requirement demands merely that 

the enterprise include a common interest or purpose. See Boyle, 556 U.S. at 946. Evidence that 

“association-in-fact members actively associate with one another and work cooperatively and 

illegally to achieve a goal” is sufficient. See Allstate Ins. Co. v. Benhamou, 190 F. Supp. 3d 631, 

653 (S.D. Tex. 2016). Further, “[i]nterdependent and coordinated associations that exist to 

perpetuate the enterprise and its profitability likewise satisfy the common-purpose structural 

element.” Id. at 653. Here, Plaintiffs plead the purpose of the enterprise was to allow Defendants, 
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and others to engage in a predatory lending business. (ECF 54 ¶¶ 3–8, 55–78.) Discovery will 

confirm this common purpose is extensively documented in communications, presentations, and 

the series of agreements amongst the members of the enterprise. It may also be inferred from their 

conduct. See Boyle, 556 U.S. at 947 (concluding that the existence of an enterprise may be 

“inferred from the evidence showing that persons associated with the enterprise engaged in a 

pattern of racketeering activity”). 

Second, Plaintiffs plead the relationships among those associated with the enterprise, as it 

is not enough that several individuals “independently and without coordination, engaged in a 

pattern of crimes listed as RICO predicates.” See id. at 958 n.4. There is, however, no requirement 

that the enterprise “have a hierarchical structure or a ‘chain of command’” and “decisions may be 

made on an ad hoc basis and by any number of methods.” Id. at 948. Additionally, “[m]embers of 

the group need not have fixed roles; different members may perform different roles at different 

times,” and “[t]he group need not have a name, regular meetings, dues, established rules and 

regulations, disciplinary procedures, or induction or initiation ceremonies.” Id. Here, Plaintiffs 

plead the relationships between the members of the enterprise through written agreements tying 

the parties to each other through contractual and financial obligations. (ECF 54 ¶¶ 55–68, 96–14.) 

Such allegations evince an association-in-fact enterprise among several members including, Asner 

and Landy, the Tribal Leaders, the Tribal Lenders, and others. 

Third, Plaintiffs’ well-pleaded facts easily establish the required longevity of the enterprise. 

The enterprise “must have some longevity, since the offense proscribed by that provision demands 

proof that the enterprise had ‘affairs’ of sufficient duration to permit an associate to ‘participate’ 

in those affairs through” the predicate act. Boyle, 556 U.S. at 946. Further, “[w]hile the group must 

function as a continuing unit and remain in existence long enough to pursue a course of conduct, 
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nothing in RICO exempts an enterprise whose associates engage in spurts of activity punctuated 

by periods of quiescence.” Id. at 948. Here, the length of the operations of the enterprise, which 

commenced in 2012 and continue to this day, more than satisfies this minimal requirement. 

2. Plaintiffs’ well-pleaded facts establish that Asner and Landy are individuals, 
distinct from the enterprise and therefore potentially liable under RICO. 
 

Unlike the other sections of RICO, § 1962(c) “limits the ‘persons who may be charged to 

those who are ‘employed by or associated with [the] enterprise. By comparison, any person may 

be charged with violations of §§ 1962(a), (b) or (d).” Pamela Bucy Pierson, Rico, Corruption & 

White-Collar Crime, 85 TEMP. L. REV. 523, 548-60 (2013). “Because of this difference in statutory 

language, the courts have held that the ‘person’ charged with violating § 1962(c) must be separate 

and distinct from the ‘enterprise.’” Id. (citing Schofield v. First Commodity Corp. of Boston, 793 

F.2d 28, 30 (1st Cir. 1986) (gathering cases and finding that the plain language of § 1962(a) does 

not require involvement of two separate entities for liability)). The “reason for § 1962(c)’s 

distinctness requirement is simple: one cannot be ‘employed by or associated with’ oneself.” Id. 

(citing Haroco, Inc. v. Am. Nat’l Bank & Trust Co., 747 F.2d 384, 400 (7th Cir. 1984)).  

Although Asner and Landy expect the Court will agree that general principles of corporate 

law and veil piercing apply to allow them to escape liability (ECF 60 at 16–17), RICO works 

differently. So long as the individuals targeted for liability are distinct from the enterprise, that is 

enough. See, e.g., United States v. Goldin Indus., Inc., 219 F.3d 1271, 1275 (11th Cir. 2000) (“The 

prohibition against the unity of person and enterprise applies only when the singular person or 

entity is defined as both the person and the only entity comprising the enterprise.”). In evaluating 

distinctness, the Supreme Court considers whether the “person” and “enterprise” have distinct 

legal statuses. See Cedric Kushner Promotions, Ltd. v. King, 533 U.S. 158, 163 (2001).  
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For example, in Cedric Kushner, the Supreme Court considered whether the president and 

sole shareholder of a company was distinct from the company. In a unanimous decision, the Court 

observed that a “corporate/owner employee, a natural person, is distinct from the corporation itself, 

a legally different entity with different rights and responsibilities due to its different legal status. 

And we can find nothing in the statute that requires more ‘separateness’ than that.” Id. at 163. To 

that end, the Court explained that an employee and a corporation are “different ‘persons,’ even 

where the employee is the corporation’s sole owner.” Id.; see also United States v. Najjar, 300 

F.3d 466, 485 (4th Cir. 2002) (relying on King to affirm jury verdict and explaining that both the 

operations manager and the company “sought to further the illegal scheme and so had the requisite 

common purpose”).  

Distinctness issues typically arise in cases where the corporation is both the RICO person 

and the enterprise. See Ray v. Spirit Airlines, Inc., 836 F.3d 1340, 1356 (11th Cir. 2016). In such 

cases, distinctness is often not satisfied because “a corporate defendant acting through its officers, 

agents, and employees is simply a corporation.” Id. at 1357. But individual defendants are always 

distinct from corporate enterprises because they are legally distinct entities, even when those 

individuals own the corporations or act only on their behalf.” In re ClassicStar Mare Lease Litig., 

727 F.3d 473, 492 (6th Cir. 2013) (emphasis added); see also United States v. Najjar, 300 F.3d 

466, 485 (4th Cir. 2002) (“[W]here a corporate employee ‘acting within the scope of his authority 

. . . conducts the corporation’s affairs in a RICO-forbidden way,’ the only ‘separateness’ required 

is that the corporate owner/employee be a natural person and so legally distinct from the 

corporation itself.”).  

Distinctness is not an issue in cases where, as here, several separate legal entities form an 

association-in-fact enterprise. See generally Solomon v. Am. Web Loan, No. 4:17CV145, 2019 WL 
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1320790, at *7 (E.D. Va. Mar. 22, 2019) (discussing the distinctness issue in a case involving an 

association-in-fact, tribal lending enterprise). In other words, Plaintiffs do not allege that Asner 

and Landy’s companies are both the enterprise and the person responsible under RICO. Rather, 

Plaintiffs plead the existence of an association-in-fact enterprise consisting of at least the Tribal 

Lenders, National Performance Agency and affiliated companies, Asner and Landy, and the Tribal 

Counsel. (ECF 54 ¶¶ 2–7, 53–54–78.) Each of entities’ legal status and named individuals are 

clearly distinct from the association-in-fact enterprise as a whole. Thus, each of the members of 

the enterprise retains its distinct legal identity while making up the association-in-fact enterprise. 

As one court explained it, “[t]he basic idea is that while one basketball player does not constitute 

a team, an association of five players does, without each losing his identity as a distinct person.” 

In re Lupron Mktg. & Sales Practices Litig., 295 F. Supp. 2d 148, 173 (D. Mass. 2003); see also 

Southwood v. Credit Card Sol., No. 7:09-cv-00081-F, 2016 WL 8710985, at *18 (E.D.N.C. Feb. 

26, 2016), report & recommendation adopted sub nom. SouthWood v. CCDN, LLC, No. 7:09-cv-

183-F, 2016 WL 1389596 (E.D.N.C. Apr. 7, 2016), aff’d sub nom. Taylor v. Bettis, 693 F. App’x 

190 (4th Cir. 2017) (“This distinctiveness requirement is met when the person alleged to violate § 

1962(c) is the corporate owner or employee of a corporation enterprise.”); Allstate Ins. Co. v. 

Benhamou, 190 F. Supp. 3d 631, 650 (S.D. Tex. 2016) (same).  

E. Plaintiffs Adequately Allege Usury Violations As To Asner And Landy. 

Virginia’s usury statute prohibits lending money at a rate higher than 12% without a 

consumer lending license. (ECF 54 ¶ 113–14.) The loans at issue here went well past that cap, 

coming in at 300% on the low end. (Id. ¶ 112.) Contrary to Asner and Landy’s assertion, Plaintiffs 

sufficiently alleged claims pursuant to Virginia Code § 6.2-305, which authorizes Plaintiffs’ claims 

based on the interest Asner and Landy “received” on Plaintiffs’ usurious loans. 
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Plaintiffs allege Asner and Landy had more of a role in the scheme than they would like 

the Court to believe. Plaintiffs state: 

105.  Through the Tribal Lending Entities, the participants in the enterprise, 
including Asner, Landy, and the Tribal Officials, market, initiate, and 
collect usurious loans throughout the country, including in Virginia. 

 
106. Defendants know the subject loans were illegal under each state’s usury and 

licensing laws, but they pursued the scheme anyway, misrepresenting that 
the lenders were operating “within the Tribe’s reservation” and were 
“wholly owned and operated” by the Tribe. 

 
107. Because of the ostensible protections created by the tribal business model, 

the interest rates charged on the loans were significantly greater than the 
amounts permitted by each state’s usury and licensing laws. 

 
(ECF 54.)  

The Complaint also alleges that Defendants, which includes Asner and Landy, received at 

least the following amounts from Plaintiffs for their illegal loans: 

 

Plaintiff Amount Loan 
Hengle $1127.65 Majestic Lake 

Blackburn $4164.75 Majestic Lake 
Rose $1,439.00 Silver Cloud 

Bumbray $1,561.00 Majestic Lake 
Pike $1,725.00 Golden Valley 

Myers $635 Mountain Summit 
Collins $1,032.50 Mountain Summit 

Mwethuku $439.50 Golden Valley 
 
(ECF 54 ¶¶ 116–23.) Consistent with Virginia Code § 6.2-305(A), Count Three of the Amended 

Complaint demands “Plaintiffs and the class members are entitled to recover the total amount of 

interest received, plus twice the amount of interest paid within the past two years” (ECF 54 ¶ 164.) 

These allegations are sufficient to state a claim under Virginia Code § 6.2-305(A), which allows 

Plaintiffs “to recover from the person taking or receiving” payments on the usurious loans. VA. 

CODE ANN. § 6.2-305(A) (emphasis added). Asner and Landy fit this category. 
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Asner and Landy argue that they are not liable under Virginia’s usury laws because liability 

under Virginia Code § 6.2-1541 is limited to lenders. (ECF 60 at 18–19.) This argument ignores 

the allegations in the Amended Complaint, which states, “Plaintiffs and the class members seek to 

recover amounts received by Landy and Asner, plus twice the amount of such usurious interest 

that was paid in the two years preceding the filing of this action and their attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Va. Code § 6.2-305.” (ECF 54 ¶ 8.) Thus, although Plaintiffs maintain that the lending agreements 

are void pursuant to Virginia Code § 6.2-1541, their theory of liability as to Defendants is premised 

on Virginia Code § 6.2-305, which is not limited to lenders. That section touches anyone who took 

or received payments from the illegal loans. VA. CODE ANN. § 6.2-305(A). Accordingly, Plaintiffs 

have plausibly alleged Asner and Landy’s liability pursuant to Virginia Code § 6.2-305(A). 

Asner and Landy’s selective interpretation of caselaw does not alter the analysis. (ECF 60 

at 20.) While they suggest that in other cases the plaintiffs have alleged that individual defendants 

received part of the loan payments and this case is somehow different, it is not. As noted above, 

Plaintiffs have plainly alleged that “Defendants,” meaning all Defendants—including Asner and 

Landy—received Plaintiffs’ loan proceeds. (ECF 54 ¶¶ 116–23.) Nothing more is necessary for 

Plaintiffs to plead their usury claims. 

F. Plaintiffs Have Plausibly Pleaded That Asner And Landy Were Unjustly Enriched. 

Relying on similar arguments to usury, Asner and Landy claim that Plaintiffs’ unjust 

enrichment claims fail because they have not pleaded that Asner and Landy obtained a benefit 

from Plaintiffs. (ECF 60 at 21.) Asner and Landy rely on an interpretation of the loan agreements, 

wherein payments were to be remitted “to a party other than Asner and Landy (i.e., the Tribal 

Lending Entity that issued the loan).” (ECF 60 at 22.) This line of argument suffers from the same 

problem as those as to usury, and fail for the same reason. 
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A Virginia unjust enrichment claim requires pleading three elements: (1) the plaintiff 

conferred a benefit upon the defendant; (2) the defendant knew that the plaintiff conferred the 

benefit; and (3) the defendant accepted or retained the benefit under circumstances that render it 

inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without paying for its value. Microstrategy, Inc. 

v. Netsolve, Inc., 368 F. Supp. 2d 533, 537 (E.D. Va. 2005). Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged 

their claims for unjust enrichment against Defendants Asner and Landy to survive. 

As Plaintiffs allege in their Complaint, they “conferred a benefit on Asner and Landy when 

they repaid the void loans; Asner and Landy knew or should have known of the benefit; and they 

have been unjustly enriched through their receipt of any amounts in connection with the unlawful 

loans.” (ECF 54 ¶ 173.) Asner and Landy hope to brush aside allegations like these, arguing that 

Plaintiffs do not allege that Asner and Landy received any loan payments. (ECF 60 at 22.) Yet that 

is exactly what Plaintiffs allege, not only in the paragraphs describing the amounts Defendants 

received from Plaintiffs’ loans (ECF 54 ¶¶ 116–23), but throughout the Amended Complaint. (ECF 

54 ¶¶ 125, 139–40, 163, 173.) Asner and Landy’s arguments that these plainly worded statements 

are somehow ineffective to state the elements of unjust enrichment relies on either some 

hypertechnical reading of the Amended Complaint or no reading of it. 

These statements confirm Plaintiffs have adequately alleged that they conferred a benefit 

on Asner and Landy. In short, the overarching theory of the unjust enrichment claim is the alleged 

benefit conferred because the loans were illegal and unenforceable under Virginia law. VA. CODE 

ANN. § 6.2-1541 (establishing that “any principal or interest paid on the loan shall be recoverable 

by the person by or for whom payment was made”). The Amended Complaint also repeatedly 

alleges that Defendants, including Asner and Landy, received amounts from the illegal loans. (ECF 

54 ¶¶ 125, 139–40, 163, 173.) 

Case 3:19-cv-00250-DJN   Document 99   Filed 09/16/19   Page 19 of 31 PageID# 3120



20 
 

Second, though not forcefully challenged by Asner and Landy, Plaintiffs again plainly 

allege that Asner and Landy “knew or should have known of the benefit” Plaintiffs conferred upon 

them. (ECF 54 ¶ 173.) As alleged in the Amended Complaint, the rent-a-tribe business model was 

always of questionable legality in light of its origins from the failed rent-a-bank model. (Id. ¶¶ 29–

37.) Further, Defendants were clearly on notice of the illegality of the rent-a-tribe scheme as early 

as 2013, when the New York Department of Financial Services issued a cease and desist to the 

Otoe-Missouria Tribe and warned banks and payment processers to cease providing electronic 

banking services to online lenders. (Id. ¶¶ 80–83, 91–93.) Not to mention, the numerous cases that 

arose challenging similar rent-a-tribe lending schemes involving other lenders represented by the 

same set of lawyers who represented members of the enterprise. (Id. ¶¶ 47–48, 89–90.)  

Finally, Plaintiffs allege that Asner and Landy’s enrichment at Plaintiffs’ expense was 

unjust. (Id. ¶ 152). The allegations more than satisfy this element as the Complaint alleges the 

loans were never valid, that Defendants, including Asner and Landy, engaged in an ongoing 

criminal enterprise to bilk consumers out of money many times greater than Virginia’s usury laws 

allow, and Virginia’s strong public policy against usury. (See id. ¶¶ 8, 108–13, 210.) Moreover, it 

would be unjust for Defendants—individuals and companies from and/or operating in Kansas, 

Missouri, and California—to retain amounts received from illegal, high-interest loans designed to 

prey on Virginia’s most financially vulnerable consumers. 

Asner and Landy’s sole argument is that Plaintiffs’ allegations are not sufficient, based on 

Hyundai Emigration Corp. v. Empower-Visa, Inc., No. 1:09-cv-124, 2009 WL 10687986 (E.D. 

Va. June 17, 2009). (ECF 60 at 21–22.) As Asner and Landy read Hyundai, the fact that a document 

directs payments to a particular recipient is everything. But Asner and Landy’s arguments overlook 

an important aspect of Hyundai that differentiates it from this case. There, the plaintiff’s unjust 
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enrichment claim failed to state a claim because “Hyundai did not allege facts showing that it made 

any payments to Mr. Yoon or that Mr. Yoon received any portion of the payments Hyundai made 

directly to Empower.” Id. at *1 (emphasis added). This case is of course different, as Plaintiffs 

allege in several places that Asner and Landy—individually and as one of the Defendants—

obtained part of Plaintiffs’ loan payments. Such is all that is required, even by Asner and Landy’s 

lone case, so the Court should conclude that Plaintiffs’ unjust enrichment claim survives. 

G. Plaintiffs Have Adequately Alleged RICO Claims Against Asner And Landy. 

1. Plaintiffs allege Asner and Landy collected an unlawful debt. 

Asner and Landy again argue that plainly pleaded allegations—that they collected an 

unlawful debt—are absent from the Amended Complaint. (ECF 60 at 23.) As discussed above, 

Plaintiffs allege again and again that Asner and Landy obtained money from Plaintiffs loans that 

violated Virginia law, making them “unlawful” under RICO. (ECF 54 ¶¶ 125, 139–40, 163, 173); 

see Busby v. Crown Supply, Inc., 896 F.2d 833, 839 (4th Cir. 1990) (explaining that RICO “makes 

it unlawful for ‘any person’—not just mobsters—to use money derived from [the unlawful 

collection of debt] to invest in an enterprise, to acquire control of an enterprise through [the 

unlawful collection of debt], or to conduct an enterprise through the [unlawful collection of debt]”) 

(emphasis added). 

Asner and Landy try to buttress this argument with their failed attempts to defeat Plaintiffs 

Virginia usury claims, clinging to the idea that because they are not “lenders,” that claim fails. 

(ECF 60 at 23.) As explained above, Asner and Landy are wrong and this claim survives. 

RICO defines “unlawful debt” as a debt that was incurred in connection with “the business 

of lending money or a thing of value at a rate usurious under State or Federal law, where the 

usurious rate is at least twice the enforceable rate.” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(6). Unlike the “pattern of 
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racketeering activity” offense, “a single act which would tend to induce another to repay on an 

unlawful debt incurred in the business of lending money” is sufficient for the predicate act, and 

there need not be “[a]n actual exchange of cash.” United States v. Eufrasio, 935 F.2d 553, 576 (3d 

Cir. 1991); see United States v. Weiner, 3 F.3d 17, 24 (1st Cir. 1993) (explaining that “there is no 

counterpart definition of a ‘pattern of collection of unlawful debt,” as one would expect if such a 

pattern were an element of one of RICO’s core provisions. Instead, section 1961 simply lists 

‘unlawful debt[.]’”). 

In short, the crux of the Amended Complaint alleges that Asner and Landy Defendants—

Tribal outsiders living and operating in Kansas and Missouri—violated § 1962(c) and (d) by 

participating “in the illegal lending scheme and conspired with each other and others to repeatedly 

violate state lending laws resulting in the collection of an unlawful debt from Plaintiffs and the 

class members.” (ECF 54 ¶ 5, see ¶¶ 125, 139–40, 163.) Each of the alleged violations “have some 

separate elements and they also have one element, or more, in common with the other RICO 

counts.” Smithfield Foods, Inc. v. United Food & Commercial Workers Int’l Union, 633 F. Supp. 

2d 214, 222 (E.D. Va. 2008). With these allegations, Plaintiffs easily surmount Rule 8’s low bar 

of a “short and plain statement of the claim.” FED. R. CIV. P. 8(a)(2). 

2. Because there are no allegations that Asner and Landy ever left the conspiracy, 
Plaintiffs have pleaded post-merger claims. 
 

Asner and Landy assert that Plaintiffs have not pleaded a RICO claim against them for any 

post-merger conduct, because after that point they “had no involvement in the operations of the 

alleged enterprise.” (ECF 60 at 23.) They cannot be liable for post-merger loans because after 2014 

“Asner and Landy did not make the loans, did not service the loans, and were not involved in 

making any decisions about the borrowers or their loans.” (Id.) According to Asner and Landy, 

Plaintiffs “have not satisfied § 1962(c)’s requirement that the defendant participated in the conduct 
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of the alleged enterprise’s affairs, or § 1962(d)’s requirement that the defendant had sufficient 

intent to be engaged in conspiracy.” (ECF 60 at 24.) Wrong on both points. 

As explained fully above, Plaintiffs never allege, and (even assuming it would be proper 

to do so on a motion to dismiss) Asner and Landy never claim to have left the conspiracy. Without 

an effective withdrawal, Asner and Landy’s RICO liability is ongoing despite a limited level of 

involvement. 

As to Asner and Landy’s Section 1962(c) lack-of-participation argument, it is settled that 

involvement in the enterprise can be minimal to support a RICO claim. As explained by the Fourth 

Circuit, the Supreme Court recognizes:  

A conspirator must intend to further an endeavor which, if completed, would satisfy 
all of the elements of a substantive criminal offense, but it suffices that he adopt 
the goal of furthering or facilitating the criminal endeavor. He may do so in any 
number of ways short of agreeing to undertake all of the acts necessary for the 
crime’s completion. 

United States v. Mouzone, 687 F.3d 207, 218 (4th Cir. 2012) (alteration in original, emphasis 

added) (quoting Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 65 (1997)). In other words, “each defendant 

‘must knowingly agree to perform services of a kind which facilitate the activities of those who 

are operating the enterprise in an illegal manner.’” Smithfield Foods, 633 F. Supp. 2d at 231 

(quoting Brouwer v. Raffensperger, Hughes & Co., 199 F.3d 961, 967 (7th Cir. 2000)). Thus, when 

a claim involves a RICO conspiracy, “it is only necessary to show an agreement to perform 

services to facilitate illegal activities, rather than showing the actual involvement of each 

individual or entity in each such activities.” Id. “Just as a conspirator need not himself commit or 

agree to commit the predicate acts required under § 1962(c), he also is not required to play the 

managerial role required for § 1962(c) liability.” Mouzone, 687 F.3d at 218. 

 Plaintiffs easily plead minimal participation by Asner and Landy, which is sufficient. 

Plaintiffs allege their participation in the enterprise individually in multiple respects (ECF 54 ¶¶ 
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7, 105, 125, 139), as well as their overall participation as one of the Defendants. (See generally 

id.) And without an effective withdrawal, Asner and Landy’s continued participation is presumed. 

Regarding intent, that element is likewise minimal under RICO. “A plain reading of the 

statute indicates that RICO does not contain any separate mens rea or scienter elements beyond 

those encompassed in its predicate acts.” United States v. Pepe, 747 F.2d 632, 675–76 (11th Cir. 

1984).2 Even with respect to Plaintiffs’ conspiracy claim, the defendant is only required to “intend 

to further an endeavor which, if completed, would satisfy all of the elements of a substantive 

criminal offense.” Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 53 (1997). However, there is no 

requirement that the defendant understand the illegality of the endeavor or the underlying predicate 

acts. Intent to participate in the enterprise is enough, and Plaintiffs have plainly pleaded those 

facts.3 (ECF 54 ¶¶ 7, 105, 125, 139.) Asner and Landy’s one-sentence challenge is insufficient to 

overcome Plaintiffs’ well-pleaded allegations. 

3. Plaintiffs have adequately alleged causation as to Asner and Landy. 

Asner and Landy mention in passing that Plaintiffs have failed to adequately allege 

causation, arguing Plaintiffs’ “claim that Asner and Landy indirectly received funds from loan 

repayments through investments in various companies is not sufficient to meet civil RICO’s 

                                                
2 See 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c); see also 2B Fed. Jury Prac. & Instr. § 56:03 (6th ed.); United States v. 
Biasucci, 786 F.2d 504, 512 (2d Cir. 1986) (“RICO imposes no additional mens rea requirement 
beyond that found in the predicate crimes.”); Parm v. Nat’l Bank of Cal., No. 4:14-cv-0320-HLM, 
2015 WL 11605748, at *24 (N.D. Ga. May 20, 2015); Dillon v. BMO Harris Bank, N.A., 16 F. 
Supp. 3d 605, 618 (M.D.N.C. 2014) (“It appears there is no mental state requirement ‘beyond that 
found in the predicate crimes.’”).  
3 Even if the Court were to interpret RICO to include an implied mens rea element, such an implied 
mens rea requirement would only “require that the defendant know the facts that make his conduct 
illegal.” Staples v. United States, 511 U.S. 600, 605 (1994); see also Dean v. United States, 556 
U.S. 568, 578 (2009); United States v. Aucoin, 964 F.2d 1492, 1498 (5th Cir. 1992) (“The statutes 
here in question do not condition guilt upon knowledge that a federal law has been violated. It is 
sufficient that appellants intended to do all of the acts prohibited by the statute and proceeded to 
do them.”).  
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proximate cause requirement—even if harm was foreseeable.” (ECF 60 at 24.) Asner and Landy 

are again incorrect. 

“RICO provides civil remedies to ‘[a]ny person injured in his business or property by 

reason of a violation of section 1962.’” Allstate Ins. Co. v. Plambeck, 802 F.3d 665, 676 (5th Cir. 

2015) (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c)) (alteration in original). “An injured party must show that the 

violation was the but-for and proximate cause of the injury.” Id. (citing Bridge v. Phoenix Bond & 

Indem. Co., 553 U.S. 639, 654 (2008)). 

But-for causation merely requires the plaintiff to prove that the defendant’s violation 

factually injured the plaintiff. See Bridge, 553 U.S. at 654. Proximate cause refers to “the judicial 

tools used to limit a person’s responsibility for the consequences of that person’s own acts, . . . 

with a particular emphasis on the ‘demand for some direct relation between the injury asserted and 

the injurious conduct alleged.’” Id. (citation omitted) (quoting Holmes v. Sec. Inv’r Prot. Corp., 

503 U.S. 258, 268 (1992)). “A link that is ‘too remote,’ ‘purely contingent,’ or ‘indirect’ is 

insufficient.” Hemi Group, LLC v. City of New York, 559 U.S. 1, 9 (2010) (alteration omitted). As 

the Fourth Circuit has explained, the touchstone for causation is “the directness of the resultant 

harm, not the foreseeability of that harm.” Slay’s Restoration, LLC v. Wright Nat’l Flood Ins. Co., 

884 F.3d 489, 493 (4th Cir. 2018) 

In Plambeck, the Fifth Circuit considered whether the RICO plaintiff was an 

“unforeseeable victim or otherwise wronged by the caprice of chance.” 802 F.3d at 676. The court 

concluded that because “[t]he objective of the enterprise was to collect from insurance companies” 

like the plaintiff, “the entire structure of the system” showed that the plaintiff’s injuries were “not 

just incidental” but were “the object of the collaboration.” Id.  
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So too here, as Plaintiffs’ alleged RICO violations are both the but-for and proximate cause 

of Plaintiffs’ injuries. Plaintiffs’ paid unlawful interest on the illegal loans, which never would 

have been made if it were not for the violations of § 1962(c) by Defendants, including Asner and 

Landy, in facilitating and participating in the scheme. (See ECF 54 ¶¶ 7, 105, 125, 139.) Further, 

because “[t]he objective of the enterprise” was to make and collect on the illegal loans, “the entire 

structure of the system” evidences that Plaintiffs’ injuries were “not just incidental” but were “the 

object of the collaboration.” Plambeck, 802 F.3d at 676. The required directness is therefore 

shown. See Slay’s Restoration, 884 F.3d at 494 (“RICO causation requires a proximity of statutory 

violation and injury such that the injury is sequentially the direct result—generally at ‘the first 

step’ in the chain of causation.”). 

4. Plaintiffs have pleaded plausible pre-merger claims against Asner and Landy. 

a. Plaintiffs have pleaded sufficient participation by Asner and Landy. 

Asner and Landy next argue that Plaintiffs have not shown a Section 1962(c) violation for 

their conduct before the 2014 mergers, arguing that Plaintiffs must show that Asner and Landy 

were involved in “directing the enterprise’s affairs.” (ECF 60 at 24 (quoting Reeves v. Ernst & 

Young, 507 U.S. 170, 179 (1993)). But that position mischaracterizes the involvement or 

participation requirement, as discussed above. Although Asner and Landy argue that direct 

participation in corporate affairs or a managerial role is necessary and cite cases they claim support 

that position, this is wrong: “An enterprise is ‘operated’ not just by upper management but also 

lower rung participants in the enterprise who are under the direction of upper management.” Reves 

v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 184 (1993). Put differently, when it enacted RICO, “Congress 

intended to reach all who participate in the conduct of that enterprise, whether they are generals or 

foot soldiers.” United States v. Oreto, 37 F.3d 739, 751 (1st Cir. 1994). The Amended Complaint 
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sufficiently alleges their dominant role in the affairs of the enterprise. (See, e.g., Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 

3, 20, 21, 63-71.) 

As discussed throughout this brief, Plaintiffs have alleged sufficient participation—largely 

due to their failure to effectively withdraw from the conspiracy—by Asner and Landy such that 

they incur RICO liability. Asner and Landy argue that the allegations here pale in comparison to 

those in Solomon v. American Web Loan, No. 4:17-cv-145, 2019 WL 1320790, at *4, *7 (E.D. Va. 

Mar. 22, 2019), noting additional details that the Solomon complaint provides. (See ECF 60 at 25.) 

But Solomon does not set the RICO pleading bar, Rule 8 does. Plaintiffs have provided Asner and 

Landy with the notice of their claims that Rule 8 demands, leaving them with no doubt to what 

they will be called to defend.  

Likewise, Asner’s separate arguments that there are no allegations that he had “any direct 

involvement with the lending operations” misses the mark. (ECF 60 at 25 (emphasis in original).) 

Participation in the enterprise at-large is what matters, so even if Asner is correct that he was not 

directly involved with the vaguely labeled “lending operations,” he may still be accountable under 

RICO. As this Court has held, “it is only necessary to show an agreement to perform services to 

facilitate illegal activities, rather than showing the actual involvement of each individual or entity 

in each such activities.” Smithfield Foods, 633 F. Supp. 2d at 231 (emphasis added). Nothing to 

which Asner points dilutes this common-sense approach to conspiratorial activity.  

b. Plaintiffs have adequately pleaded that Asner and Landy associated 
with and conspired with the enterprise.  
 

Regarding association with the enterprise, Asner and Landy argue that Plaintiffs must plead 

that “that Asner and Landy’s activities were outside of their ordinary business affairs.” (ECF 60 at 

26.) Apparently, for purposes of Section 1962(c), Asner and Landy believe that if someone carries 

on legitimate business, like supplying ammunition to individuals who are co-conspirators in a 
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RICO enterprise, the suppliers could not face RICO liability because their business may be 

otherwise on the up-and-up. Such is of course incorrect. 

There is no requirement under Section 1962(c) that those involved in a RICO enterprise all 

be engaged in illegal activity. Indeed, acts that may appear legitimate on the surface cannot be 

genuinely so when done in furtherance of a RICO conspiracy. See Mitchell Tracey v. First Am. 

Title Ins. Co., 935 F. Supp. 2d 826, 844 (D. Md. 2013) (holding title insurance company and 

agents’ activities in furtherance of scheme to charge title insurance premiums in excess of that 

allowed under state law, in violation of RICO, “are not conducted in the ordinary course of 

business”); Levine v. First Am. Title Ins. Co., 682 F. Supp. 2d 442, 461 (E.D. Pa. 2010) (finding 

that legitimate aspects of business did not overcome illicit overcharging for title insurance). This 

Court adopted just this argument in Solomon, finding “Plaintiffs’ arguments . . . persuasive that 

‘while the Medley Defendants’ acts in furtherance of the illegal lending scheme might overlap 

with those in furtherance of lawful enterprises, or otherwise seem legitimate on the surface, when 

they are aware of and contribute to [a scheme that violates RICO], they cannot argue that they 

have a routine commercial relationship.’” Solomon, 2019 WL 1320790, at *10 (first alteration 

added). 

Plaintiffs have alleged, over and over, that Asner and Landy participated in the enterprise, 

voluntarily, knowing that it was designed to skirt state usury laws and grossly overcharge 

consumers for interest on their loans to the benefit of Defendants. (ECF 54 ¶¶ 7, 105, 125, 130, 

139.) Whatever supposed business dealings with the enterprise Asner and Landy may contend 

were legitimate cannot be so under the authorities cited above.   

Asner and Landy further misconstrue this requirement, explaining Plaintiffs have not 

alleged Asner and Landy’s knowledge or intent to engage in illegal activity. (ECF 60 at 27.) As 
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explained above, however, here is no such requirement. All that is necessary is a RICO enterprise 

participant “intend to further an endeavor which, if completed, would satisfy all of the elements of 

a substantive criminal offense.” Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 53 (1997). In other words, 

as long as Asner and Landy engaged in conduct to further the making and collection of loans that 

violated Virginia law, that is sufficient to hold them accountable under RICO. 

H. Plaintiffs Allege Claims Against Asner And Landy For Majestic Lakes Loans. 

Again ignoring the Amended Complaint, Asner and Landy argue that there can be no claim 

for Majestic Lake loans because that entity began operating in 2015, after Asner and Landy’s 

businesses merged with the Tribal entities. (ECF 60 at 28.) Asner and Landy are again incorrect.  

Plaintiffs plainly plead claims as to loans by Majestic Lake, noting Plaintiffs Hengle, 

Bumbray, and Blackburn all had loans with that entity, and Defendants—including Asner and 

Landy—illegally obtained payments from those Plaintiffs on those loans. (ECF 54 ¶¶ 108–09, 

116–17, 119, 174.) Little more need be said here, as the Amended Complaint unmistakably belies 

Asner and Landy’s arguments. Even assuming such parsing of claims could be accomplished, the 

Court should decline to dismiss claims involving Majestic Lakes loans. 

I. Asner And Landy Are Subject To Personal Jurisdiction In This Court. 

Asner and Landy’s final arguments assert that the Court lacks personal jurisdiction over 

them because Plaintiffs’ RICO claims fail. (ECF 60 at 29.) Thus, only Virginia’s long-arm statute 

remains, and Plaintiffs cannot show sufficient contacts with Virginia to exercise jurisdiction over 

them under that statute. (Id.) Those arguments of course rise or fall with the RICO claims, meaning 

that if the Court concludes that Plaintiffs’ RICO claims have legs, then the Fourth Circuit’s 

nationwide-service-of-process interpretation of RICO governs. See ESAB Group, Inc. v. Centricut, 

Inc., 126 F.3d 617, 626 (4th Cir. 1997). Because Plaintiffs have sufficiently pleaded their RICO 
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claims such that they survive Asner and Landy’s Motion, RICO’s nationwide-service-of-process 

provision permits personal jurisdiction over them. 

J. The Court Should Permit Amendment If It Agrees To Dismiss. 
 
Asner and Landy argue that Plaintiffs’ claims should be dismissed with prejudice, as in 

their view one amendment is enough and anything further would be futile. (ECF 60 at 29–30.) 

There of course is no set number of amendments when evaluating futility, and the Court should 

freely permit amendment in the interests of justice. See FED. R. CIV. P. 15(a)(2). Asner and Landy 

have not identified insurmountable defects in the Amended Complaint, so the Court should permit 

Plaintiffs leave to amend should it decide to dismiss. 

V. CONCLUSION. 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny Asner and Landy’s Motion to Dismiss. 
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      PLAINTIFFS 
 

By:  /s/ Kristi C. Kelly    
Kristi C. Kelly, Esq., VSB #72791 
Andrew J. Guzzo, Esq., VSB #82170 
Casey S. Nash, Esq., VSB #84261 
KELLY GUZZO, PLC 
3925 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 202 
Fairfax, VA 22030  
(703) 424-7572 
(703) 591-0167 Facsimile 
Email: kkelly@kellyguzzo.com  
Email: aguzzo@kellyguzzo.com 
Email: casey@kellyguzzo.com 
 
Leonard A. Bennett, Esq., VSB #37523 
Craig C. Marchiando, Esq., VSB #89736 
Elizabeth W. Hanes, Esq., VSB #75574 
CONSUMER LITIGATION ASSOCIATES, P.C. 
763 J. Clyde Morris Blvd., Ste. 1-A 
Newport News, VA  23601 
Telephone: (757) 930-3660 
Facsimile: (757) 930-3662 

Case 3:19-cv-00250-DJN   Document 99   Filed 09/16/19   Page 30 of 31 PageID# 3131



31 
 

Email:  lenbennett@clalegal.com 
Email: craig@clalegal.com 
Email: elizabeth@clalegal.com 

Counsel for Plaintiffs 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on September 16, 2019, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 

Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system, which will then send a notification of such filing (NEF) 

to all counsel of record. 

         /s/     
Kristi C. Kelly, Esq., VSB #72791 
KELLY GUZZO, PLC 
3925 Chain Bridge Road, Suite 202 
Fairfax, VA 22030 
(703) 424-7570 
(703) 591-0167 Facsimile 
Email: kkelly@kellyguzzo.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Proposed Classes 

 

Case 3:19-cv-00250-DJN   Document 99   Filed 09/16/19   Page 31 of 31 PageID# 3132


